IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC-02-1410

LOWER TRIBUNAL No. 89-966C

DANIEL JON PETERKA,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

> MICHAEL P. REITER Capital Collateral Counsel Northern Region Florida Bar No. 0320234

LINDA McDERMOTT Assistant CCC-NR Florida Bar No. 0102857

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL COUNSEL 1533-B S. Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 10, 1989, Mr. Peterka was indicted and charged with the premeditated first-degree murder of John Russell in Okaloosa County, Florida (R. 1947-8).

Subsequently, Mr. Peterka was tried by a jury in the circuit court of the First Judicial Circuit, in and for Okaloosa County, Florida. Trial began on February 26, 1990, and on March 2, 1990, the jury found Mr. Peterka guilty of first-degree murder (R. 2042). The penalty phase was held the following day, on March 3, 1990, and on that same day the jury returned a recommendation of death (R. 2043).

On April 25, 1990, the trial judge sentenced Mr. Peterka to death (R. 2077-8). This Court affirmed Mr. Peterka's conviction and sentence. <u>Peterka v. State</u>, 640 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 1994).

On March 24, 1997, Mr. Peterka, who was represented by the former Office of the Capital Collateral Representative, timely filed a preliminary Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R. 1-148).

The State responded to Mr. Peterka's preliminary Rule 3.850 motion on January 21, 1998 (R. 246-64).

A few hours, before the State responded, on January 21, 1998, the circuit court entered an Order denying most of Mr. Peterka's claims (PC-R. 265-9).

In December, 1998, Robert Harper entered a Notice of Appearance on behalf of Mr. Peterka (Supp. PC-R. 46-7).

On July 6, 2000, Mr. Peterka filed an Amended Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R. 290-335). Thereafter, on February 1, 2001, Mr. Peterka filed an amended, corrected Rule 3.850 motion (R. 412-62).

On February 22, 2001, the court entered an order granting an evidentiary hearing on most of Mr. Peterka's ineffective assistance of counsel claims and denying an evidentiary hearing on other claims (PC-R. 463-6).

On June 28-29, and July 16, 2001, an evidentiary hearing was held regarding trial counsel's ineffectiveness. Following the hearing, written closing arguments were submitted (PC-R. 471-505, 506-50, 555-68).

On May 2, 2002, the circuit court denied Mr. Peterka's Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R. 569-92).

Mr. Peterka timely filed a notice of appeal (PC-R. 742-44).

On September 6, 2002, Mr. Peterka, <u>pro</u> <u>se</u>, filed a motion to dismiss counsel. On September 19, 2002, postconviction counsel moved to withdraw.

On October 7, 2002, this Court granted Mr. Peterka's motion to dismiss counsel and appointed the Capital Collateral

Counsel for the Northern Region to represent Mr. Peterka in this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

TRIAL

At trial, the State maintained that Mr. Peterka was guilty of the premeditated first-degree murder of John Russell. The State told the jury that Mr. Peterka executed his roommate in order to assume his identity because Mr. Peterka was a fugitive from Nebraska and did not want to serve his sentence of two consecutive one year terms of incarceration that resulted from his felony convictions of theft and retaining stolen property (R. 1119-20).

The State presented testimony that Mr. Peterka was convicted of theft and retaining stolen property on February 10, 1989 in Scottsbluff, Nebraska (R. 1135-6). He was required to report to a Nebraska penitentiary two days later (R. 1135-6). On the day Mr. Peterka was supposed to report to begin serving his sentence, he spent the morning with his girlfriend, Cindy Rush (R. 1144). Mr. Peterka told Ms. Rush that he did not want to report to prison that he "couldn't handle the things there", "it would be rough there" (R. 1150). He told her that he wanted to reestablish himself somewhere else, get a job and work (R. 1148).

Thereafter, Mr. Peterka arrived in Okaloosa County and was employed at the Okaloosa Plaster and Supply Company, the

business of Ruben Purvis (R. 1671). For a short time, Mr. Peterka lived with Ronald and Connie LeCompte and their children (R. 1572).

While living with the LeComptes, Mr. Peterka asked Mr. Lecompte to purchase a handgun in his name for Mr. Peterka (R. 1573). Mr. LeCompte purchased a handgun for Mr. Peterka (R. 1573).

When the LeComptes were forced to move from their home, farther from Mr. Peterka's job, Mr. Peterka looked for another place to live (R. 1879).

Mr. and Mrs. Purvis also owned rental properties and knew that one of their tenant's, John Russell, was behind in his rent (R. 1656). Mr. Purvis suggested that Mr. Peterka and Mr. Russell share the rental house together so that Mr. Peterka could be closer to work and Mr. Russell could catch up on his rent payments (R. 1656). Mr. Peterka moved into the house in May, 1989 (R. 1649).

When Mr. Peterka paid his first month of rent to Mr. Russell, Mr. Russell spent the money and did not pay the Purvises (R. 132). Thereafter, Mr. Peterka paid his share of the rent directly to Jean Purvis, Mr. Purvis' wife. Mr. Russell not only failed to pay the rent, but also failed to pay the utility bills (R. 132).

On June 27, 1989, Mr. Peterka cashed a \$300.00 check that was sent to Mr. Russell from his aunt (R. 2445).

That same day, Mr. Peterka obtained a drivers license from the Department of Motor Vehicles which had his photograph and Mr. Russell's identifying information on it (R. 2445). Mr. Peterka told the police in his confession that he had paid Mr. Russell \$100.00 for use of his social security card so that he could obtain a driver's license (R. 2446).

Mr. Russell learned of the check that his aunt had sent him and believed that Mr. Peterka had stolen the check (R. 1445). The jury was allowed to hear testimony that Mr. Russell told his friend, Lori Slotkin, his cousin, Deborah Trently, and a bank employee, Kim Cox, that he would not confront Mr. Peterka about the check (R. 1434, 1457, 1604-5).

On July 13, 1989, Mr. Russell did not appear for work (R. 1276). His friend, Gary Johnson, was nervous because it was pay day and Mr. Russell usually came to work on pay day to collect his paycheck (R. 1276). Mr. Johnson traveled to Mr. Russell's house and entered the house through a window (R. 1280). Mr. Johnson saw Mr. Russell's car keys, cigarettes and eye glasses in the house (R. 1281). Mr. Johnson told the jury that Mr. Russell was so financially strapped that he was surprised to see that Mr. Russell had left a pack of

б

cigarettes with a few cigarettes in the pack at the house (R. 1281).

After work, Mr. Johnson went back to Mr. Russell's house and spoke to Mr. Peterka who was home with his girlfriend, Frances Thompson (R. 1285). Mr. Peterka told Mr. Johnson that Mr. Russell left the house the previous evening with another individual (R. 1285).

Later that afternoon, Mr. Johnson and Ms. Slotkin filled out a missing persons report and spoke to Deputy Daniel Harkins of the Okaloosa County Sheriff's Department (R. 1288). Deputy Harkins traveled to Mr. Peterka's house along with Mr. Johnson and Ms. Slotkin (R. 1289, 1350). Deputy Harkins interviewed Mr. Peterka, who again stated that Mr. Russell left the house the previous evening with another individual (R. 1352). Deputy Harkins requested identification and Mr. Peterka provided his birth certificate (R. 1353).

After Deputy Harkins left, Mr. Peterka told Ms. Thompson that she should leave because the police would be back to arrest him due to his fugitive status in Nebraska (R. 1629). Ms. Thompson left the house (R. 1629).

At approximately 1:30 a.m., on July 14, 1989, Deputy Harkins and other law enforcement officers returned to the house to arrest Mr. Peterka on a fugitive warrant from

Nebraska (R. 1355). During Deputy Harkins testimony, over a defense objection, he was allowed to tell the jury that the teletype of the warrant stated that Mr. Peterka was "armed and dangerous" (R. 1355). He was also allowed to testify, over defense objection, that the officers believed Mr. Peterka may have weapons in the house (R. 1361).

After arresting Mr. Peterka outside of his home, the officers entered and searched Mr. Peterka's home. While inside, one of the officers looked in Mr. Peterka's wallet and found: approximately \$407.00, a Florida driver's license with Mr. Peterka's picture and Mr. Russell's name; Mr. Russell's social security card, video card, bank card and insurance card, Mr. Peterka's Nebraska driver's license and birth certificate and a clipping for a job in Alaska (R. 1369-72). The contents of the wallet were introduced as evidence (R. 1374).

The officers also located a handgun, for which Mr. Peterka produced a bill of sale (R. 1364-5). The officers did not take custody of the handgun at that time (R. 1366).

That afternoon, officers returned to the house and Mr. Purvis allowed them to enter. During the search, Investigator Vinson, found what he believed were blood stains on the couch cushions and beneath the couch on the carpet (R. 1311-2). The

officers also seized cushions that were damp and outside (R. 1314).

Officers also found sand and a shovel in the trunk of Mr. Russell's car (R. 1314).

The Florida Department of Law Enforcement sent agents to assist in the evidence collection (R. 1506-12). Six blood samples - four from the trunk of the car and two from the couch cushions were different from Mr. Peterka's blood grouping and consistent with the victim's blood grouping (R. 1540-3). Other samples from the house were consistent with both Mr. Russell and Mr. Peterka's blood groupings (R. 1540-3).

On July 18th, 1989, in the late afternoon, Investigator Vinson interviewed Mr. Peterka (R. 246). Mr. Peterka asked Inv. Vinson to arrange a phone call with Mr. Purvis (R. 250). Mr. Peterka spoke to Mr. Purvis and requested that he come to the jail to meet with Mr. Peterka that evening (R. 1674). Alan Atkins, an officer at the jail, agreed to allow Mr. Purvis to meet with Mr. Peterka (R. 1661).

When Mr. Purvis arrived at the jail, Mr. Peterka was upset and crying and confessed to Mr. Purvis that he shot Mr. Russell (R. 1676-8). Mr. Purvis asked Officer Atkins to enter the room and Ofc. Atkins instructed both Mr. Purvis and Mr.

Peterka to write down what Mr. Peterka had told Mr. Purvis about his roommate (R. 1680).

Later that evening, Inv. Vinson and Sheriff Gilbert arrived and spoke to Mr. Peterka (R. 1323). Mr. Peterka confessed to shooting Mr. Russell and explained what happened on the late afternoon of July 12th. Mr. Peterka agreed to show law enforcement where he placed Mr. Russell's body (R. 1323).

After leading law enforcement to Mr. Russell's body, Mr. Peterka returned to the police station and provided a videotaped statement about what had occurred on July 12, 1989 (R. 2441-57). The jury watched and heard the entire videotaped confession:

Q: Dan, what I want you to do, or what I would like for you to do is start on Wednesday, the 12th, what happened when your roommate, John Russell came in - came in from work?

A: He came in through the front door, appeared to be a little bit upset. I didn't say much. Said, "howdy", pretty much the usual greeting, I guess. He just was acting kind of strange and that - just started wanting to know about some money and that. I asked him what he was talking about and he got to screwing around. I got up and walked into the kitchen and grabbed a beer. He followed me into the kitchen, came up behind me, and grabbed a beer out of the refrigerator, and he said, "where is it? Where's the money?", and we started getting into it a little bit more. I knew what he was talking about.

Q: You did know what he was talking about? A: Yes, sir. Q: Okay.

A: I said - it just escalated into an argument, started talking back to him. I said - started arguing back with him about the money, how all he could do was go out and party, and this and that, and I couldn't pay the bills, how I paid half the bills and the next thing I know people are coming to the door because they didn't get their money. Не would go out and spend it, and I was yelling at him, and he was yelling at me, and I turned to walk back into the living room. About the time I got to the doorway, he pushed me and I turned around and it just became a struggle. It probably didn't last too long. We struggled around through the living room. We got over by the T.V. set. We were still pretty much just wrestling. It wasn't really a fight, it just - it just became more and more of a struggle. He was behind me, more or less hugging me from behind, and I pretty much fell across the coffee table. The gun had been laying on the coffee table. I had been working on it.

Q: Was it loaded?

A: Yes, sir, it was.

Q: Was it out - I mean, it wasn't in the case or anything, is that correct?

A: No, sir. I had just put it back together. Seemed like we both started grabbing for it, just really - we just - it was in a flash. I don't know how long we really struggled for the gun or anything like that, but I pushed him off behind me, and I had the qun, and I turned around and he was pushing up off the couch, pretty much from a seated position, and he - and he was coming at me kind of head down and I fired the weapon. I couldn't even believe it, it's almost like I didn't even really know it - just fired the weapon, and he sat back down on the couch and just fell over backwards, just laid down, down on the couch. I stood there probably a couple of I - I got up to him and he was really and seconds. he was really bleeding. He was bleeding really bad, and I ran and got some towels, and I pulled him

towards me and there was blood everywhere. He was alive, he was breathing. That's all I could really think about was stopping the blood at the time, and I tried to put towels by his head. I didn't know what to do and he stopped breathing and then I really panicked. I didn't know - I really didn't know what to do. I knew he was dead. I did everything I could really think of - I tried moving his head, everything. All I could think of was moving him somewhere, hiding him.

Q: So what did you do next?

A: Carried him into the kitchen. I set him on the floor and stood there and looked. He was dead. I rolled him up in the carpet and put him in the trunk of his car and took him where we found him tonight.

* * *

A: Yes, sir. It was some money that he was expecting in the mail and I knew about it 'cause he asked me to keep watching for it. . . Probably two or three days after he quit asking about it, it came in the mail and I knew what it was and I cashed it.

Q: What kind of I.D. did you use to cash it, Dan?

A: Used his driver's - his driver's license.

Q: And whose picture is on the driver's license?

A: Mine is.

Q: Had you gone down to the driver's license bureau and told them you needed a duplicate license?

A: Yes, sir, I did.

Q: And did they ask you certain questions like where did you get this license and stuff like this, prior to them giving you a duplicate? A: No, sir. They asked me for some kind of identification.

Q: What did you produce?

A: Produced a social security card, sir.

Q: Of John Russell?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: When did you take the social security card?

A: He gave that to me so I would have some kind of identification and that was about two days before I got the license.

Q: John gave you the social security card?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: Did he know that you were going to get a duplicate license in his - in his name?

A: Yes, sir. He did.

Q: Were you going to pay him any money to do that?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: Did you pay him any money?

A: I paid him more than my share of the utility bills.

Q: Okay. The - back to Wednesday, approximately what time did he get home?

A: Approximately 5:15 to 5:30.

Q: When did the scuffle, and the fight and gunshot - what time was that? How long - how long did it take, if you can tell me, five minutes, ten minutes? A: From the time he got home till the time it was over, it was less than fifteen minutes.

* * *

Q: And where - where was the car that you loaded him into? Was it his car?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: In the trunk of his car?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And what - what gate did you take him out of, the front gate to the back gate?

A: The back gate, sir.

Q: Wasn't it daylight?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: You didn't see anybody - any neighbors or anybody across the street?

A: No, I was just panicking, sir. I don't know.

* * *

Q: After you did this, what did you do? Was there anything in the house you had to clean up? Did you have to vacuum or anything? Did you have to straighten up? Did you break anything during the fight or scuffle?

A: There wasn't anything really broken, sir, just pushed some furniture back in place - just so excited. I wasn't really thinking, sir. I just pushed everything back pretty much straight. All I could think about doing was doing something with John. I mean after I took them to where we found him, I went back into the house and I didn't know what to do. I went to talk to Frances.

* * *

A: I explained to her about leaving Nebraska, told her all my feelings for her, things like that, sir.

Q: Did you ever mention John?

A: No, sir. I didn't.

(R. 2442-57).

Thereafter, Mr. Peterka also told Ronald and Connie LeCompte and Frances Thompson that he had shot Mr. Russell and the events that transpired on July 12, 1989 (R. 1576-7, 1592-3, 1624-6).

At trial the State argued that Mr. Peterka was claiming self-defense or accident due to his confession (R. 1165-9, 1180-3, 1298-9). The judge allowed the State to repeatedly introduce testimony about Mr. Russell's character and reputation for peacefulness.

The State called a relative of Mr. Russell's, Kevin Trently, to testify in its case in chief. During Mr. Trently's direct examination testimony the State asked:

Q: You knew John then for around two years; is that correct?

A: No, I'd say it was close to maybe thirteen months or so.

Q: A little over a year?

A: Yes.

Q: Were you familiar with his reputation in the community for nonviolence or peacefulness?

A: I don't think I understand your question.

Q: Do you think you were familiar with John Russell's reputation?

A: As far as his character?

Q: Yes, sir. I don't want you to get into generally his character, but do you think you knew his reputation?

MR. LOVELESS: Your Honor, I would note an objection at this time to the entire line of questioning.

JUDGE FLEET: Objection sustained.

MR. ELMORE: May we approach the bench, Judge?

JUDGE FLEET: Yes.

(WHEREUPON, a sidebar conference was held.)

MR. ELMORE: Judge, it's the State's position that under the Florida Evidence Code the victim's character as it relates to nonviolence has been made relevant by the Defense assertions in the statements that he gave that the victim was the aggressor in this case. Therefore, the character traits of the victim for nonviolence are placed in issue by the defendant's statements.

JUDGE FLEET: The proper question hasn't been asked yet. The Court has sustained the objection to the question that you asked.

MR. ELMORE: Oh, I see. I'm trying to get to the proper question.

MR. LOVELESS: Your Honor, may I note an objection at this time, even if it is admissible, it's premature until the issue is proper for the jury.

JUDGE FLEET: I think you raised it in the motion, counselor.

(WHEREUPON, the sidebar conference was concluded.)

Q: Mr. Trently, are you familiar with the representation of John Russell in general? Just yes or no. Are you familiar with his representation?

A: Yes.

Q: Are you familiar with the reputation of John Russell as it relates to peacefulness or nonviolence?

A: Yes.

Q: Would you say he has a reputation for --

MR. LOVELESS: Your Honor, objection.

JUDGE FLEET: Objection to the form of the question sustained.

Q: (By Mr. Elmore) What is his reputation for peacefulness?

MR. LOVELESS: Same objection.

JUDGE FLEET: Objection is overruled.

The Witness: He was never violent while I was with him.

MR. LOVELESS: Your Honor, may we approach the bench, please?

JUDGE FLEET: Yes, you may.

(WHEREUPON, a sidebar conference was held.)

JUDGE FLEET: Mr. Elmore, the only admissible answer by this witness is whether or not he knows what the deceased's reputation in the community in which he lived was for nonviolence and not the personal opinion of this witness.

MR. ELMORE: I understand, Judge.

JUDGE FLEET: The objection is going to be sustained and the jury will be instructed to disregard the last answer of the witness. So you need to lead him in the right direction. If he doesn't know the reputation in the community, then he can't testify.

(WHEREUPON, the sidebar conference was concluded.)

JUDGE FLEET: The objection to the last question and answer of the witness is sustained. The jury is instructed to disregard the last answer of the witness and you will not consider that in arriving at your verdict in this case. You may proceed counselor.

Q: (By Mr. Elmore) Mr. Trently, my question to you is whether you are familiar with John Russell's reputation in the community, that is in the community in which he lives or works, people that know him or know of him. Are you familiar with his reputation in that community for peacefulness?

A: Yes.

Q: Can you tell me what that reputation would be without telling me about any personal observations you made of John Russell?

A: A reputation for nonviolence.

MR. LOVELESS: Your Honor, my objection was as to that particular entire line of questioning.

JUDGE FLEET: The objection is overruled subject to your right to cross, counselor.

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