IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANIEL JON PETERKA,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC02-1410

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE APPELLEE

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

subject to cause challenges. Neither was prospective juror Parker, prospective juror White or prospective juror Watson. Trial counsel is not deficient for recognizing that these for cause challenges were futile. Thus, there was no deficient performance.

Nor is there any prejudice. The cause challenge would have merely been denied. Nor was this trial court likely to grant gratuitously cause challenges. The trial court had already denied two "for cause" challenges and a request for two additional peremptory challenges. (T. VI 1031). The trial court certainly was not going to gratuitously grant eight "for cause" challenges or grant a request for ten additional peremptory challenges. Peterka would have been tried in front of these exact same jurors regardless of whether trial counsel made any futile for cause challenges or not. Collateral counsel asserts that the prejudice is that had counsel made these for cause challenges, trial counsel would have been able to use his peremptory challenges on other prospective jurors with whom he felt uncomfortable. IB at 83. However, prejudice, in the context of jury selection, means that a biased juror remained on final jury, not a juror with which Peterka the was "uncomfortable". Uncomfortable is not biased and does not amount to prejudice.

Prospective juror Parker never sat on the jury because he was stricken peremptorily by trial counsel. IB at 80-81.⁴⁹ There

⁴⁹ Prospective juror Parker stated that he would follow the law. (T. 496). Moreover, he repeatedly stated that he understood that the death penalty was not automatic even if

can be no prejudice regarding a prospective juror that never sat on the final jury.⁵⁰ This same analysis applies to prospective juror White and prospective juror Watson, both of whom, also did not sit on the actual jury. IB at 81-82.⁵¹ The trial court's characterization of aggravating circumstances as those "above and beyond normal" is perfectly proper. (T. II 398). Moreover,

Peterka was guilty of premeditated murder. (T. 487-490).

50 Collateral counsel views peremptory challenges as an independent right. They are not. Peremptory challenges are a fail safe system designed to cure the judge's erroneous denial of a challenge for cause. Peremptory challenges were developed at a time in the common law when appeals were a rarity. They were designed to guarantee fair juries by curing erroneous denials of cause challenges immediately at trial in the absence of appellate review. The only reason peremptory challenges exist is to ensure a fair and impartial jury, they are not a independent right. If a defendant was tried in front of a fair and impartial jury, he may not complain about how he had to get there. United States v. Martinez-Salazar, 528 U.S. 304, 318-319, 120 S.Ct. 774, 783, 145 L.Ed.2d 792 (2000)(Scalia, J., concurring)(explaining that normal principles of waiver disable a defendant from objecting on appeal to the seating of a juror he was entirely able to prevent by the use of peremptory challenges and if a defendant had plenty of peremptories left, but chose instead to allow a biased juror to sit on the panel, he has waived any claim of error because one of the purposes of peremptory challenges is to enable the defendant to correct judicial error in relation to "for cause" challenges); But cf. De La Rosa v. Zequeira, 659 So. 2d 239, 241 (Fla. 1995). A defendant has no right to any particular number of "free" peremptory challenges, only a right to a fair jury.

⁵¹ Prospective juror Watson clarified his statement about going to a penalty phase that he was not saying that he expected Peterka to be convicted of first degree murder. (T. 915). Moreover, he stated that he would be able to follow the law regarding aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (T. 918-919). Prospective juror Watson, in addition to stating that sometimes self-defense is a cop-out, also stated that an arrest was nothing more than just that and she did not expect to find Peterka guilty and would consider all degrees of murder. (T. 649-650) any problems relating to the trial court's statements regarding aggravating circumstance during jury selection was cured by the final jury instruction covering aggravating circumstances. IB at 82.

Nor was trial counsel deficient for not further questioning Juror King or the other jurors regarding the firearms. As trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing, the firearm issue was "six of one, half a dozen of the other". He felt that jurors who owned a firearm would be good jurors during guilt phase because they would support a self-defense theory; whereas, jurors who did not own firearms would be good jurors during penalty phase. (EH VI 339). Counsel is not deficient for not asking questions that cut both ways. Collateral counsel does not address trial counsel's stated reason for not further questioning the jurors on this issue. This is a tactical choice regarding jury selection that is immune to an ineffectiveness attack.

Nor was counsel ineffective for not asking questions regarding premeditation, burden of proof and reasonable doubt when the prosecutor had already explored these areas with the jurors. There is no reason for both the prosecutor and defense counsel to ask the same questions. Nor is it likely that the trial court would have allowed trial counsel to repeat the same questions of the jurors that the prosecutor had just asked. Therefore, the trial court properly ruled that trial counsel was not ineffective during jury selection.

-67-

ISSUE V

DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY LIMIT CUMULATIVE EVIDENCE AT THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING? (Restated)

Peterka next asserts that the trial court improperly limited evidence at the evidentiary hearing. Part of this evidence was cumulative. It had already been presented at trial. Evidentiary hearings are designed to elicit new evidence not presented at trial. The brother was not qualified to testify as to the meaning of Peterka's military commendation. Peterka testified as to its meaning at the evidentiary hearing. Moreover, as the trial court noted, the military commendation speaks for itself. Thus, the trial court properly limited the evidence at the evidentiary hearing.

The trial court's ruling

At the start of the evidentiary hearing, collateral counsel was introducing Peterka's mother. (EH Vol. V 9-10). The prosecutor objected based on relevancy and that the testimony was cumulative because "all of this was testified to in the prior penalty phase." The judge explained that the focus of the evidentiary hearing would be on what could have been presented at trial but was not. Testimony already present was in the record. The trial court restricted counsel from presenting testimony that had previously been present and limited counsel to new testimony. Collateral counsel did not object; rather, he stated: "All right, sir,". (EH Vol. V 10). Ms. Peterka then testified as to the family and the defendant's childhood. (EH Vol. V 20-21). The trial court explained that the testimony was

-68-

cumulative but stated if you're going to take five minutes that's fine but the testimony could go for three days on this one question. (EH Vol. V 22). Counsel told the trial court that it probably won't take more than five minutes. The trial court then informed counsel that he felt the testimony was cumulative. Counsel stated that his real point for this witness was her lack of preparation for the penalty phase. The prosecutor then stated that he had no objection to leading questions being asked of the witness. (EH Vol. V 24). The trial court agreed and informed counsel that he could ask leading questions. The trial court stated that "if you have prepared something that's going to get the Court's attention, its time for me to hear it" (EH Vol. V 24). The trial court informed counsel that it was being frank with counsel and that they needed to move on. (EH Vol. V 25). Counsel agreed to move on. The prosecutor on cross, asked Ms. Peterka if she had testified about Peterka's violent nature at trial and the judge immediately interrupted and then told that prosecutor that this was also in the record. The judge then asked counsel "do you guys not believe me? (EH Vol. V 27-28). The judge then asked the prosecutor to move on. (EH Vol. V 28).

Peterka's mother testified at the evidentiary hearing that she never considered bringing Peterka's brother to the trial because he was younger, probably in school and she did not want to expose him to the trial at that age. (EH Vol. V 36-37). Peterka's father testified at the evidentiary hearing that he and his wife decided not to involve the younger children in the

-69-

trial. (EH Vol. V 90). While he also testified that trial counsel did not suggest involving the siblings, the questioning focused on Karyn, the oldest daughter, as a potential penalty phase witness. (EH Vol. V 92-93).

Timothy Peterka testified at the evidentiary hearing. (EH Vol. V 110). He was a sergeant in the Unites States Marine Corps. (EH Vol. V 111). He identified Exhibit #4 as a commendation for outstanding leadership from the National Guard. (EH Vol. V 18, 111). The prosecutor objected to this witness' qualifications because the witness was not a member of the Minnesota National Guard. (EH Vol. V 112). The prosecutor noted that the judge had military experience and could give it due weight. (EH Vol. V 112). The trial court sustained the objection explaining that the witness was not qualified as an expert in military decorations. (EH Vol. V 112). The trial court noted that the exhibit itself was in evidence and it was self-explanatory. (EH Vol. V 113). Collateral counsel then proffered that Sgt. Peterka would testify that it means that whoever receives it has done something to stand out and that it was not a common occurrence. (EH Vol. V 113). The trial court accepted the proffer. On cross, Tim Peterka testified that he did not attend the trial because his parents were never told that it was not necessary. (EH Vol. V 118).

Peterka testified as to the meaning of the commendation at the evidentiary hearing. (EH Vol. V 196-198). Mr. Harllee, who was second chair and in charge of the penalty phase, testified that

-70-

Peterka told him he did not want his siblings involved. (EH Vol. VI 241).

<u>Preservation</u>

The issue of the limitation on Peterka's mother's testimony at the evidentiary hearing was not preserved. Collateral counsel did not object to the limitation; rather, he agreed with the limitation. Furthermore, when the judge later asked counsel to move on, counsel agreed to do so. Nor did collateral counsel make a proffer of the testimony regarding the background that he thought was being improperly limited. This Court cannot determine if the limitation was proper without knowing exactly what testimony was excluded. *Blackwood v. State*, 777 So. 2d 399, 411 (Fla. 2000)(concluding issue of whether reports where improperly excluded on the basis that they were cumulative was not preserved because no proffer of the reports was made citing *Lucas v. State*, 568 So. 2d 18, 22 (Fla. 1990); *Jacobs v. Wainwright*, 450 So. 2d 200, 201 (Fla. 1984) and *Finney v. State*, 660 So. 2d 674, 684 (Fla. 1995)). The issue is not preserved.

<u>Merits</u>

Peterka's mother's testimony was cumulative. It had already been presented at trial. Evidentiary hearings are designed to elicit new evidence not presented at trial. Collateral counsel

-71-

mistakenly believes that a judge may not direct collateral counsel in his presentation of evidence at an evidentiary hearing conducted without a jury. When no jury is present, a judge may take charge by asking questions or, as in this case, by directing counsel to get the Court's attention now. This Court routinely directs appellate counsel's attention to certain issues at oral argument. There may be some concern with such directions at trial because a jury is present. A judge who directs and controls an evidentiary hearing is still a neutral and detached magistrate. Liteky v. United States, 510 U.S. 540, 557, 127 L. Ed. 2d 474, 114 S. Ct. 1147 (1994)(observing "judicial remarks during the course of a trial that are critical or disapproving of, or even hostile to, counsel, the parties, or their cases, ordinarily do not support a bias or partiality challenge" and that "[a] judge's ordinary efforts at courtroom administration -- even a stern and short-tempered judge's ordinary efforts at courtroom administration -- remain immune."). Judges are not robed mummies. United States v. Cheramie, 520 F.2d 325, 327 (5th Cir. 1975)(applauding the judge for his examination of the government's ballistic expert to clarify the expert's testimony to the jury and observing that "a judge is more than a robed mummy presiding at trial"). Furthermore, the judge also interrupted the prosecutor during the cross-examination of mother because the judge thought that the prosecutor's question were also cumulative. (EH Vol. V 27-28). The judge held the prosecutor to the same standard.

Peterka next complaints that the trial court ruled, at the

-72-

evidentiary hearing, that his brother was not qualified as an expert in military matters. IB at 83. Peterka's brother was not available at trial. Furthermore, Peterka had instructed penalty phase counsel not to involve the brother. Porter v. State, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001)(explaining that a defense attorney is not ineffective for following his client's instructions not to speak to members of his family); Sims v. State, 602 So. 2d 1253, 1258 (Fla. 1992) (observing that counsel can be considered ineffective for honoring the client's wishes). Any limitation on his testimony at the evidentiary hearing is irrelevant because the brother would not have testified at trial at all. Additionally, as the trial court noted, the commendation was in evidence and was self-explanatory. Moreover, the defendant testified as to its meaning at some length at the evidentiary hearing. (EH Vol. V 196-198). Additionally, the judge was an "old military fellow" himself. (EH VI 286). Thus, the trial court properly limited the evidence.

Peterka's reliance on Holland v. State, 503 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1987), is misplaced. Holland held that the erroneous denial of the right to an evidentiary hearing can never be harmless error for "the self-evident reason that a reviewing court does not know what that evidence would be." Here, by contrast, an evidentiary hearing was conducted.

Peterka's reliance on *Easter v. Endell*, 37 F.3d 1343 (8th Cir. 1994), is equally misplaced. *Easter* concerned whether an issue was procedurally barred from federal habeas review due to the state's total lack of post-conviction proceedings, not the

-73-

admissibility of evidence at an evidentiary hearing. The Eighth Circuit did not hold that the state's post-conviction proceedings were a violation of due process; rather, they merely held that the federal habeas review was appropriate in these circumstances. *Easter*, 37 F.3d at 1346 ("While Arkansas' post-conviction procedures . . . are not in themselves constitutionally infirm, the question is whether they are adequate to foreclose Easter's federal habeas corpus petition."). Thus, the trial court properly limited the evidence and testimony at the evidentiary hearing.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER COLLATERAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE? (Restated)

Peterka asserts his collateral counsel was ineffective during post-conviction litigation due to lack of communication and for failing to present certain evidence at the evidentiary hearing. He asserts on appeal that his attorney had a conflict of interest because he had filed a bar complaint against collateral counsel. There is no right to effective assistance of collateral counsel. Nor is there any right to conflict-free collateral counsel. Furthermore, lack of communication is not a conflict of interest. Nor does filing a bar complaint create an actual conflict. Conflict of interest is a legal term of art limited solely to situations involving multiple clients. Furthermore, Peterka waived any right he had to conflict-free collateral counsel. Thus, the trial court properly handled collateral counsel's motion to withdraw and Peterka's request to dismiss collateral counsel.

The trial court's ruling

Collateral counsel filed a motion to withdraw as counsel because the defendant had filed a bar complaint against him. (Supp. R. Vol. I 177). Collateral counsel asserted that this put him in an "awkward position" and that he did not trust his client and his client did not trust him. (Supp. R. Vol. II 191). During the hearing on the motion, the trial court asked the defendant if he wished to fire his attorney and Peterka responded: "No, Your honor". (Supp. R. Vol. II 201). The trial

-75-

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